
 United Nations  A/C.3/72/SR.38 

  

General Assembly 
Seventy-second session 

 

Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 

11 January 2018 

 

Original: English 

 

 

This record is subject to correction.  

Corrections should be sent as soon as possible, under the signature of a member of the  

delegation concerned, to the Chief of the Documents Management Section (dms@un.org), 

and incorporated in a copy of the record.  

Corrected records will be reissued electronically on the Official Document System of the  

United Nations (http://documents.un.org/). 

17-19210 (E) 

*1719210*  
 

Third Committee 
 

Summary record of the 38th meeting 

Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 31 October 2017, at 3 p.m.  
 

 Chair: Mr. Gunnarsson . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   (Iceland) 

 later: Mr. Idris (Vice-Chair) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   (Eritrea) 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 70: Elimination of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and 

related intolerance (continued) 

(a) Elimination of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related 

intolerance (continued) 

(b) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-up to the Durban Declaration 

and Programme of Action (continued) 

Agenda item 71: Right of peoples to self-determination (continued)

mailto:dms@un.org
http://documents.un.org/


A/C.3/72/SR.38 
 

 

17-19210 2/10 

 

The meeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m.  
 

 

Agenda item 70: Elimination of racism, racial 

discrimination, xenophobia and related 

intolerance (continued) 
 

 (a) Elimination of racism, racial discrimination, 

xenophobia and related intolerance (continued) 

(A/72/18 and A/72/291) 
 

 (b) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-

up to the Durban Declaration and Programme 

of Action (continued) (A/72/285, A/72/287, 

A/72/319, A/72/323 and A/72/324) 
 

Agenda item 71: Right of peoples to 

self-determination (continued) (A/72/286 

and A/72/317) 
 

1. Mr. Ruteere (Special Rapporteur on 

contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, 

xenophobia and related intolerance), introducing his 

reports (A/72/287 and A/72/291), said that in June 2017, 

he had reported to the Human Rights Council, 

presenting five reports: his report providing an overview 

of the thematic work carried out by the mandate since 

its creation and an analysis of some of the challenges of 

combating racism, xenophobia and discrimination in the 

context of countering terrorism; three country visit 

reports following missions to Argentina, in May 2016, 

Australia, from November to December 2016, and Fiji, 

in December 2016; and his report on the implementation 

of General Assembly resolution 71/179 on combating 

glorification of Nazism, neo-Nazism and other practices 

that contributed to fuelling contemporary forms of 

racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related 

intolerance. He was pleased that the Government of the 

United Kingdom had accepted a visit, which should take 

place in 2018. He encouraged all Governments to reply 

positively to pending requests for invitations.  

2. In his first report (A/72/287), submitted pursuant 

to General Assembly resolution 71/181, he had 

continued to elaborate on the challenges linked to 

combating racism, xenophobia and discrimination in the 

current counter-terrorism context, following up on his 

report to the Human Rights Council. His second report 

(A/72/291) was submitted pursuant to General 

Assembly resolution 71/179, in which he had been 

requested to prepare a report on the implementation of 

that resolution based on views collected from 

Governments and non-governmental organizations. 

3. The rise of political extremism and populist 

movements and politics that sought to normalize racism 

and discrimination needed to be countered through 

effective language, policies and politics and better 

global diplomatic cooperation. The role of local 

institutions and governments in the fight against racism 

and xenophobia was particularly important as they 

tended to be closer to their constituencies and were 

sometimes more progressive than their counterparts at 

the national level. The correlation between racism and 

poverty, which was often racialized or manifested along 

racial lines, was also in need of attention. Growing 

inequality globally was also racialized and the 

implications of such racialization should continue to be 

studied. The issue of data and statistics should remain 

central to any effective work to prevent and counter 

discrimination. More useful statistics and data needed to 

be collected and better tools and instruments developed 

for such data collection. More work was needed on the 

multidimensional nature of discrimination, in particular 

with regard to the multiple forms of discrimination 

faced by women from racial and ethnic minorities.  

4. Ms. Verstichel (Belgium) said that it was crucial 

to ensure that counter-terrorism measures were taken 

with full respect for human rights and did not give rise 

to human rights violations or acts of racism or racial 

discrimination. A purely security-based approach in the 

fight against terrorism and violent extremism would be 

harmful and counterproductive. The Unia institution, 

which published an annual report on complaints filed 

relating to allegations of racist and anti-Semitic 

offences, played an important role in measuring and 

improving the fight against racism in Belgium. For 

several years, Unia had been collaborating with the 

federal police to raise awareness and provide training to 

staff on anti-racism and anti-discrimination legislation, 

to strengthen the diversity policy within the 

organization and to ensure appropriate responses when 

police were the perpetrators or victims of hate messages 

and crimes. 

5. Ms. Wacker (Observer for the European Union) 

said that the European Union was deeply concerned 

about the rise of populist extremist movements in many 

regions of the world and the targeting of persons 

belonging to national, ethnic, religious and linguistic 

minorities in the context of security concerns, economic 

disparities and migration flows. She wondered how to 

ensure that the fear of terrorism did not lead to the 

reinforcement of stereotypes and prejudices and to more 

acute manifestations of racism and xenophobia.  

6. Ms. Medcalf (United Kingdom) said that working 

to eliminate racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia 

and related intolerance remained a high priority for her 

country. The United Kingdom had a strong legal 

framework in place against racial discrimination and 

criminal penalties for offences such as incitement to 

racial hatred and for racially or religiously aggravated 

https://undocs.org/A/72/18
https://undocs.org/A/72/291
https://undocs.org/A/72/285
https://undocs.org/A/72/287
https://undocs.org/A/72/319
https://undocs.org/A/72/323
https://undocs.org/A/72/324
https://undocs.org/A/72/286
https://undocs.org/A/72/317
https://undocs.org/A/72/287
https://undocs.org/A/72/291
https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/179
https://undocs.org/A/72/287
https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/181
https://undocs.org/A/72/291
https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/179


 
A/C.3/72/SR.38 

 

3/10 17-19210 

 

assault and criminal damage. Her Government had been 

reviewing the evidence available on the main causes of 

poor integration and would bring forward plans for 

tackling those issues through a new integration strategy. 

She asked how States could better collaborate to 

strengthen the fight against racism.  

7. Mr. de Souza Monteiro (Brazil) said that his 

delegation reiterated its readiness to cooperate with the 

Special Rapporteur, Governments and civil society and 

exchange best practices concerning national initiatives 

to protect followers of commonly stereotyped religions, 

such as those based on African or indigenous traditions. 

Fighting homophobia and xenophobia should be the 

subject of well-structured policies, which could also 

learn from international and regional experiences. On 

the subject of political extremism, Brazil agreed that 

legal systems that reflected the multicultural character 

of societies were important. The importance of human 

rights education as an instrument to promote respect for 

minorities and other vulnerable groups could not be 

overemphasized. He asked for further information on 

the main tools to combat xenophobia and discrimination 

in the context of the common goal to combat terrorism.  

8. Mr. Lukiyantsev (Russian Federation) said that 

his country fully supported the activities of the Special 

Rapporteur, while understanding the difficulty of his 

work, and thanked him for taking a principled stand on 

highly sensitive issues, in particular the unacceptability 

of the proliferation and spread of racist ideas and of 

calling such actions the realization of the right to 

freedom of expression. 

9. Ms. Razana (Maldives) said that the spread of 

violent extremist ideology posed a serious security 

threat to small States, such as the Maldives. While 

extremists propagated the ideology of hate and division, 

counter-terrorism initiatives should not be promoted and 

fuelled by hate. Anti-Muslim and anti-immigration 

policies fuelled prejudices. The Maldives condemned all 

forms of support for and participation in any acts of 

terrorism and violent extremism and had taken a whole-

of-Government approach to countering terrorism. Her 

delegation wished to seek more information on the 

gender dimension of counter-terrorism initiatives and 

best practices to support the women and girls negatively 

affected by those practices. 

10. Ms. Fontana (Switzerland) said that States must 

respect the rule of law and international law in all 

national laws and measures for preventing and 

combating terrorism. The anti-terrorism strategy of 

Switzerland sought to prevent the stigmatization of 

minorities and discriminatory profiling practices. Her 

country encouraged States to include specific provisions 

prohibiting discrimination in their national anti-terrorist 

frameworks. She asked what measures should be taken 

to ensure effective integration policies with the aim of 

preventing political exclusion and socioeconomic 

marginalization. 

11. Ms. Mammadova (Azerbaijan) said that it was 

critical to pay greater attention to the persistence of 

racial prejudices, negative stereotypes and hate speech 

by public officials and the media and violent attacks on 

groups with a view to creating ethnically homogenous 

societies. Particular attention should be given to the 

implementation of discriminatory practices in situations 

of foreign military occupation, including those aimed at 

changing the demographic and cultural characteristics 

of the occupied territories and preventing the forcibly 

displaced population from returning home. Fostering 

intercultural dialogue and encouraging tolerance and 

respect for diversity were the fundamental steps for 

combating racial discrimination and related intolerance. 

Azerbaijan continued to make a modest but practical 

contribution to intercultural dialogue through 

pioneering and supporting various initiatives, such as 

the World Forum on Intercultural Dialogue. In 2016, the 

Government had hosted the seventh United Nations 

Alliance of Civilizations Forum. By putting forward 

education and awareness-raising initiatives and creating 

a platform for the promotion of cultural dialogue, 

Azerbaijan made a practical input towards the 

implementation of many of the Special Rapporteur’s 

recommendations. 

12. Ms. Moutchou (Morocco) said that that her 

country was deeply troubled by certain official rhetoric 

and legislation that seemed, in some instances, to be 

racist and Islamophobic. Anti-immigration and 

anti-refugee policies violated numerous conventions of 

international human rights and humanitarian law and 

should therefore be avoided to maintain the credibility 

of international human rights procedures and 

mechanisms. Economic inequalities must be addressed 

in order to face the fight against terrorism without 

giving rise to an increase in racism, xenophobia and 

discrimination. The Special Rapporteur was welcome to 

visit Morocco.  

13. Ms. Matlhako (South Africa) said that, in the light 

of the increase in contemporary manifestations of racial 

discrimination emerging from State counter-terrorism 

practices and the rise of xenophobic and racist speech, 

her country cautioned against associating any race with 

terrorism. There remained an imperative need for all 

Member States to take appropriate measures and clear 

action to combat and criminalize racial discrimination 

through the adoption of strong national legislation and 

the unequivocal condemnation of such acts. Her 



A/C.3/72/SR.38 
 

 

17-19210 4/10 

 

delegation wished to raise its concern at the lack of 

implementation by the Special Rapporteur of the 

provisions of successive General Assembly resolutions 

to produce a report examining national models of 

mechanisms that measured racial equality and their 

added value in the eradication of racial discrimination 

and to report on such challenges, successes and best 

practices. It hoped that the incoming Special Rapporteur 

would give that task the priority it deserved.  

14. Ms. Grigoryan (Armenia) said that the most 

dangerous form of hate dissemination and cultivation of 

racism and racial hatred towards other nations was the 

institutionalization of racism through open 

encouragement of the persecution of other ethnic or 

religious groups, nations or races or their specific  

representatives. Her Government condemned 

discrimination in all its forms and manifestations and 

strongly advocated the protection of the rights of ethnic, 

national and religious groups in international forums.  

15. Mr. Ruteere (Special Rapporteur on 

contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, 

xenophobia and related intolerance) said that one of the 

challenges in combating racism in the counter-terrorism 

context was the fact that many prejudices were fuelled 

by the portrayal in the media and popular discourse of 

certain groups as dangerous, making it easier for their 

rights to be violated and for them to be marginalized and 

making it difficult for them to be integrated into the 

communities in which they lived. Another challenge was 

to ensure that individuals and communities were not 

reduced to single religious or racial identities.  

16. With regard to counter-terrorism measures, 

although there were many good practices, in particular 

at the municipal level, they were not recorded and there 

were no opportunities for them to reach the national 

level or be shared beyond borders. It was therefore 

important to have a mechanism for sharing good 

practices. Counter-terrorism measures needed to be 

comprehensive and encompass legislative, educational 

and local-level measures; there was no one tool that was 

the most effective. 

17. The gender dimension of discrimination needed to 

be continually examined. His mandate had not managed 

to conduct a major study in that area. It was important 

to understand the complexities of how different genders 

were affected by the challenge of discrimination.  

18. With regard to the best way to design effective 

integration policies, the focus should be on not only the 

migrant or minority population but also the majority 

host population. For integration to be effective, the 

majority population needed to improve its 

understanding of the minority population or migrant 

groups. Migrant groups needed to have opportunities to 

participate fully in the socioeconomic life of the 

societies in which they lived. It was not enough to have 

legislation that prohibited discrimination; if individuals 

did not participate in economic life they would 

automatically be excluded from the enjoyment of 

political and human rights. 

19. He regretted that he had never followed up on the 

recommendation to develop a tool for measuring 

national progress. His mandate, like most United 

Nations specialized mechanisms, unfortunately did not 

have the resources to follow up on most of the 

resolutions. 

20. Mr. Mushayavanhu (Chairperson-Rapporteur of 

the Ad Hoc Committee on the Elaboration of 

Complementary Standards), delivering a progress report 

on the work of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Human 

Rights Council on the Elaboration of Complementary 

Standards to the International Convention on the 

Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, said 

that, in his view, the purpose of the Ad Hoc Committee 

was not merely to agree on new standards, but to 

develop ways of strengthening protection against the 

scourges of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia 

and related intolerance. The Ad Hoc Committee had 

been established under paragraph 199 of the Durban 

Declaration and Programme of Action, which 

recommended that complementary standards be 

prepared to strengthen and update international 

instruments against racism, racial discrimination, 

xenophobia and related intolerance. However, the Ad 

Hoc Committee had faced challenges in fulfilling that 

mandate. The views of its members differed as to 

whether procedural gaps existed in the international 

human rights law framework and whether the 

international response to any such gaps should take the 

form of a new complementary standard. While the Ad 

Hoc Committee had discussed those gaps at each session 

and had agreed on some tentative recommendations, 

there had not been sufficient political will to deliver 

fully on the mandate established in 2007.  

21. At the ninth session of the Ad Hoc Committee in 

April 2017, the Chairperson-Rapporteur had provided a 

text with a list of the topics that had been discussed. The 

text focused on four thematic areas — xenophobia, 

national mechanisms, procedural gaps in the 

Convention and racism in sport — and it identified 

potential points of agreement with respect to the 

development of complementary standards. He had also 

submitted recommendations based on discussions of 

previous sessions. Although the text had not been 

thoroughly discussed at the ninth session, he hoped it 

would provide a useful basis for future sessions. At the 



 
A/C.3/72/SR.38 

 

5/10 17-19210 

 

tenth session, scheduled to begin in April 2018, the Ad 

Hoc Committee would commence negotiations on a 

draft additional protocol to the Convention that would 

criminalize acts of a racist or xenophobic nature.  

22. While criminalization would be an important 

response to racist or xenophobic acts,  other approaches 

to address the tenacious and multi-layered features of 

racial discrimination and xenophobia should be pursued 

as well. To that end, the Ad Hoc Committee should 

continue to discuss procedural gaps, national 

mechanisms and awareness-raising. 

23. Mr. Idris (Eritrea), Vice-Chair, took the Chair. 

24. Ms. Wacker (Observer for the European Union) 

said that a strong legislative framework was in place in 

the countries of the European Union to address racism 

and xenophobia. In 2008, the Council of the European 

Union had adopted a framework decision which obliged 

member States to criminalize certain forms of racism 

and xenophobia, and the Convention, to which all 

European Union members were States parties, provided 

the basis for all efforts to prevent, combat and eradicate 

racism. Focus should be kept on the full implementation 

of the Convention. There was no evidence of gaps in the 

Convention or that it failed to address contemporary 

forms of racism. The European Union could therefore 

not support the commencement of negotiations on an 

additional protocol to the Convention that would 

criminalize racist and xenophobic acts. Discussions 

were ongoing within the Ad Hoc Committee on the need 

for possible complementary standards, and other 

options, such as non-legally binding instruments, could 

be further explored on a consensual basis.  

25. Ms. Abdullah (Iraq) said that the situation facing 

migrants was cause for concern, particularly during 

times of economic crisis, as they faced social exclusion 

and obstacles to exercising their rights. Many were 

victims of xenophobia, a problem which was often 

exacerbated by austerity measures and the tightening of 

immigration laws. 

26. Social instability, the erosion of State power, and 

increased violence made it harder to protect minorities 

from incitement to hatred and religious bigotry. The 

international community should find immediate and 

long-lasting means of ensuring a stable and secure 

environment. Racial discrimination, deprivation and 

decreased access to social justice at the regional level 

would have implications for international peace and 

security. 

27. The Government of Iraq complied fully with 

human rights instruments, and it would continue to work 

to prevent discrimination among its citizens by raising 

awareness of terrorism in the regions that had fallen 

under the control of Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant. 

It would also ensure that the families of the victims of 

terrorism received justice. The Government was also 

working towards the social reintegration of Iraqis from 

the liberated areas. 

28. Ms. Mkhwanazi (South Africa) said that the 

international community was obliged under 

international law to take concrete measures to foster 

tolerance and respect for diversity. South Africa 

reiterated the importance of implementing the Durban 

Declaration and Programme of Action, as it was the only 

United Nations conference outcome that prescribed 

concrete measures and remedies for the elimination of 

racial discrimination.  

29. All Member States needed to take clear action to 

criminalize racial discrimination and incitement to 

hatred and violence. South Africa supported the 

elaboration of complementary standards to the 

Convention that would fill in the substantive and 

procedural gaps in international law. In that regard, her 

delegation welcomed the recent decision of the Human 

Rights Council to commence negotiations on such 

complementary standards in 2018.  

30. Mr. Chekeche (Zimbabwe) said that the global 

community must take pragmatic action to eliminate all 

forms of racial discrimination in conformity with 

existing international instruments, particularly the 

Durban Declaration and Programme of Action. The Ad 

Hoc Committee had met for ten years without making 

significant progress, and hence his delegation urged 

Member States to be more flexible and accommodating.  

31. Mr. Mushayavanhu (Chairperson-Rapporteur of 

the Ad Hoc Committee on the Elaboration of 

Complementary Standards) said that the valuable 

contributions of delegations would enrich the work of 

the Ad Hoc Committee. 

32. Mr. Maan (Iraq) said that his Government had 

done everything possible to liberate its territory and 

citizens from the grip of terrorist and extremist groups, 

and called for full support from the international 

community for its rebuilding efforts. Iraq had adopted a 

permanent constitution in 2005 after its transition from 

dictatorship to democracy, but the enemies of 

democracy and freedom had worked hard to foil the 

experiment by offering support to terrorists. National, 

regional and global strategies were needed to combat the 

phenomenon of foreign fighters, and a preventive 

approach was needed to address terrorist incitement, 

recruitment and training. United Nations anti-terrorism 

resolutions, especially Security Council resolution 2170 

(2014), must be implemented.  

https://undocs.org/S/RES/2170(2014)
https://undocs.org/S/RES/2170(2014)


A/C.3/72/SR.38 
 

 

17-19210 6/10 

 

33. Mr. Monteiro (Brazil) said that his delegation 

welcomed the focus on women and girls of African 

descent in the report of the Secretary-General on the 

programme of activities for the implementation of the 

International Decade for People of African Descent. 

Brazil had made significant progress in eliminating 

racial inequality and gender-based discrimination. The 

income of Afro-Brazilian women had almost doubled 

from 1995 to 2015 while for white men it had only 

increased by 11 per cent, resulting in a decrease in 

inequality. The percentage of Afro-Brazilian women 

without an income had decreased, and the number of 

Afro-Brazilians with a university degree had increased.  

34. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development 

provided an opportunity to advance human rights and 

sustainable development for people of African descent, 

but that aspiration could not be realized without 

addressing the historical disadvantages that affected that 

population. The Government believed that the nature of 

the discrimination faced by people of African descent 

worldwide, in particular discrimination arising from the 

legacies of colonialism and enslavement, called for 

specific actions and policies from the international 

community. The Brazilian Government believed that 

negotiations on a declaration of the rights of people of 

African descent would be a first step towards addressing 

that historical debt.  

35. The Brazilian delegation was concerned about the 

rise of narratives of racial superiority. The resurgence of 

racism and xenophobia in mainstream political 

discourse was distressing and demanded an immediate 

response from the international community.  

36. Ms. Amadeo (United States of America) said that 

everyone had a duty to stand up, speak out and condemn 

discrimination of any kind. Although combatting racism 

was a challenge for every country, including the United 

States, it must be acknowledged that ending racism was 

not achieved by Government action alone. In a free 

society, each citizen must choose not to hate or to 

tolerate hatred. The United States had established robust 

legal mechanisms to protect individual liberties and 

defend against discrimination and violence. The public 

school system taught children the importance of respect, 

civil rights and fundamental freedoms, and American 

culture celebrated diversity.  

37. Ms. Khalvandi (Islamic Republic of Iran) said 

that it was regrettable that the world had witnessed an 

upsurge in intolerance, extremism and new forms of 

racism. The Iranian Government was concerned by 

xenophobic attacks on refugees and asylum seekers and 

by the racist language used by some politicians in the 

media. Some Western countries had seen rising levels of 

Islamophobia and the proliferation of political parties 

with open anti-Muslim and anti-minority agendas. The 

relationship between marginalization, social exclusion, 

disenfranchisement and racial hatred on one hand and 

mass atrocities on the other should not be 

underestimated.  

38. The right of the Palestinian people to self-

determination and an independent State had been 

quashed for seven decades by the Israeli occupation. 

Despite international efforts to end the catastrophic 

situation in the occupied Palestinian territories, the 

Israeli regime had continued to violate human rights 

with full impunity. Appalling racial prejudice could be 

found in every facet of Israeli life and discrimination 

between Jewish and non-Jewish populations was 

reminiscent of apartheid. 

39. Ms. Rasheed (Observer for the State of Palestine) 

said that the right of peoples to self-determination was 

a fundamental principle of international law, enshrined 

in the Charter of the United Nations and the two 

International Covenants on human rights, that continued 

to be ruthlessly denied to generations of Palestinians 

living in the occupied State of Palestine including East 

Jerusalem under the longest occupation in modern 

history. The fifty-year Israeli occupation was as illegal 

as the violations perpetrated daily against the 

Palestinian people, depriving them of their human 

rights, fundamental freedoms, human dignity and 

security.  

40. In the Gaza Strip, an entire population had been 

imprisoned, denied access to livelihoods and basic 

supplies including vital medicines, deprived of clean 

water and energy, and forced to live in the ruins of war 

for a decade. In 2017, the occupying Power had pursued 

its illegal polices of creating new facts on the ground by 

constructing settlements, Israeli-only bypass roads and 

the separation wall, expropriating land and transferring 

Israeli settlers.  

41. Provocative statements from Israeli elected 

officials called for continued settlement expansion and 

annexation in defiance of the international consensus 

and international humanitarian, human rights and 

criminal law recognizing the destructive impact of 

settlement on the viability of the two-State solution 

based on the 1967 borders. The State of Palestine called 

again on the international community to move beyond 

condemnation and take action to end Israel’s violations 

and occupation. 

42. Mr. Kodikunnil (India) said that the increased 

human mobility and uneven economic impact resulting 

from globalization, together with intense armed 

conflicts in some regions, had led to an exodus of 



 
A/C.3/72/SR.38 

 

7/10 17-19210 

 

refugees, all of which were factors contributing to 

growing fears and insecurity that translated into rising 

nationalism and xenophobia against different ethnic 

communities. It was important to counter false racist 

propaganda spread via social media.  

43. India had long drawn strength from its diversity of 

ethnicities, religions, languages and cultures, aware of 

the importance of equal treatment and 

non-discrimination to lasting peace and prosperity. After 

centuries as victims of racism and colonial domination, 

the Indian people had led a valiant non-violent struggle 

for their freedom. The Constitution and legislation 

enshrined the principle of equality and 

non-discrimination on the grounds of race.  

44. As a former colony, India had always led calls at 

the United Nations for the self-determination of 

subjugated nations and an end to colonialism and 

foreign occupation. However, self-determination in the 

sense of national sovereignty was sometimes 

intentionally conflated with non-colonial situations, 

encouraging misguided destabilization that could 

undermine pluralist and diverse societies and 

democratic states. 

45. Mr. Sigurosson (Iceland) said that racism 

and xenophobia affected people around the world and 

required commitment at the national, regional, and 

global levels. It was important to work towards 

universal adherence and full implementation of the 

International Convention on the Elimination of All 

Forms of Racial Discrimination. Iceland urged the 

accession of all States not yet parties thereto.  

46. His delegation welcomed the focus on the 

continuing human rights and democratic challenges 

posed by extremist political movements, whose rising 

influence in several countries was of concern. The 

increasing use of the Internet and social media to 

promote and disseminate racist content was 

unacceptable. The same groups attacking racial and 

ethnic minorities were also attacking individuals on the 

basis of sexual orientation or gender identity.  

47. Greater collective vigilance and condemnation of 

all dissemination of ideas based on racial superiority or 

hatred were needed while protecting freedom of speech 

and promoting respect, non-discrimination, diversity 

and democracy. 

48. Ms. Dileym (Saudi Arabia) said that her 

delegation welcomed the report of the Secretary-

General on the right of peoples to self-determination 

(A/72/317), and agreed that persons living in Non-Self-

Governing Territories should exercise control over their 

natural resources. However, the section of the report on 

the right of the Palestinian people to self-determination 

did not place enough emphasis on finding a solution to 

the conflict. The Palestinian issue was a main pillar 

of the foreign policy of Saudi Arabia, and, in that regard, 

the Government reiterated that its Arab Peace Initiative 

provided a comprehensive and lasting solution to the 

Arab-Israel conflict through the withdrawal of Israel 

from occupied Palestinian territory, the creation of a 

Palestinian State and a just resolution of the refugee 

question in accordance with General Assembly 

resolution 194 (III). Saudi Arabia also recalled the 

decision of the United Nations Educational, Scientific 

and Cultural Organization affirming that Aqsa Mosque 

was a part of Islamic heritage. Any attempts by Israel to 

change the character of the city of Jerusalem or its legal 

status through legal and administrative measures were 

invalid.  

49. With respect to the report of the Working Group 

on the use of mercenaries as a means of violating human 

rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples 

to self‑determination (A/72/286), Saudi Arabia was 

fully aware of the danger posed by such mercenaries. 

The Government was determined to combat the use of 

mercenaries and thwart their attempts to commit 

sabotage and engage in malicious intrigue.  

50. Ms. Kipiani (Georgia) said that her country had 

adopted measures, including the National Human Rights 

Strategy and Action Plan, to guarantee the equal rights 

of all members of society irrespective of gender, racial 

or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age, sexual 

orientation or gender identity. In 2015, a law aimed at 

eliminating all forms of discrimination and guaranteeing 

the equal rights of ethnic minorities, together with a 

State Strategy for Civic Equality and Integration and 

Action Plan for 2015–2020, had been adopted to place 

human rights at the heart of national policies.  

51. Georgia was gravely concerned at the continued 

ethnically-targeted violations denying access to 

property, religious sites, education and healthcare for 

Georgians residing in Russian-occupied Abkhazia and 

Tskhinvali/South Ossetia, where the Georgian language 

had been banned as a language of instruction in schools. 

In 2017, the Russian occupation forces had intensified 

ethnic discrimination against Georgians in those 

regions, forcing Gali residents to register as foreigners 

and adopt Abkhazian names to enjoy basic human 

rights. It was alarming that the Office of the United 

Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Special 

Rapporteurs and other human rights bodies were 

repeatedly denied access for monitoring purposes.  

52. Ms. Ozceri (Turkey) said that universal 

ratification and effective implementation of the 

https://undocs.org/A/72/317
https://undocs.org/A/72/286


A/C.3/72/SR.38 
 

 

17-19210 8/10 

 

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial 

Discrimination were imperative to eliminate racism and 

xenophobia. National efforts should be guided by 

legislation, but targeted policy tools, meaningful 

budgets and effective monitoring were also essential. 

The international community faced the increasingly 

urgent need to address new forms of racism, such as 

xenophobic nationalism, anti-Semitism and 

Islamophobia.  

53. Migrants and other vulnerable groups continued to 

be subject to alarming inequality, prejudice, 

stereotyping, stigmatization, intolerance and attacks, 

which had a detrimental impact on the sense of security 

in Muslim and migrant communities. Neo-racist, 

xenophobic and Islamophobic incidents remained 

severely underreported or misreported, undermining the 

accuracy of trends globally and hampering efforts to 

address root causes. It was important to improve the 

monitoring and reporting of hate crimes and the 

collection of disaggregated data to shed more light on 

manifestations of hostility.  

54. Comprehensive legal, administrative and 

educational measures were needed to eradicate 

stereotypes and prejudices. While country visits of the 

international mechanisms prompted examinations of 

rising trends locally, contemporary trends in racism, 

intolerance and discrimination should be addressed 

openly in all relevant forums, with effective cooperation 

between relevant mechanisms to avoid duplication.  

55. Ms. Sukkar (Jordan) said that the right to self-

determination was a fundamental pillar and key 

principle of human rights, without which other rights 

could not be enjoyed. The question of Palestine was of 

crucial important to the Middle East and Jordan and 

required a permanent solution. Her country firmly 

believed in the Palestinian people’s right to self-

determination, which was fundamental to political 

stability in the region. 

56. Her delegation stressed the need to revive specific 

and efficient negotiations between Palestine and Israel 

that must target a two-State solution. The essential 

acceptance of Israel in the region and the Arab Islamic 

world would not be possible without the cooperation of 

the Palestinian people. An independent Palestinian State 

must be created within the 1967 borders with east 

Jerusalem as its capital. No pretext justified violation of 

the rights of the Palestinians. Granting them the right to 

self-determination would help to create peace and 

stability in the international community.  

57. Jordan called on Israel to end its unilateral actions 

that were impeding negotiations on fundamental issues 

including its settlement activities, separation wall, 

demolition of homes, confiscation of land and other acts 

violating fundamental and international rights. Her 

country rejected all Israeli measures to change the 

demographic and historic character of Jerusalem and 

desecrate Christian and Muslim holy sites. Jordan 

remained responsible for holy sites in east Jerusalem, 

particularly the Al-Aqsa Mosque. 

58. Mr. Munir (Pakistan) said that the right to self-

determination must be exercised freely without coercion 

or repression, must not lapse over time, and must not be 

obfuscated by deliberate conflation with terrorism. In 

Indian-occupied Kashmir, people had been subjected to 

ruthless foreign domination for over 70 years despite the 

adoption of Security Council resolutions 91 (1951) and 

122 (1957) on Jammu and Kashmir regarding the 

expression of the will of the people through a free and 

impartial plebiscite.  

59. The people of Jammu and Kashmir continued to 

face widespread repression and violations of human 

rights that had been routinely documented by many 

independent human rights organizations. His delegation 

reaffirmed that the Jammu Dispute would remain on the 

United Nations agenda until its democratic resolution.  

60. Pakistan was concerned at the rise of racism and 

xenophobia, which it strongly rejected. Religious 

discrimination had the potential to trigger civilizational 

clashes, posing a grave threat to global peace and 

security. A unified stand was needed against those who 

incited violence by stereotyping and defaming religious 

beliefs and employing hate speech. 

61. Ms. Pritchard (Canada) said that racism rejected 

the truth asserted in the Universal Declaration of Human 

Rights that all humans were members of the same 

family, equal in dignity and rights. Racialized 

individuals often faced barriers to housing, education, 

employment, social services and other dimensions, and 

experienced economic exclusion and negative health 

and education outcomes, often with intergenerational 

impacts. 

62. Canada had arisen from the European colonization 

of indigenous territories, and now had a diverse 

population with immigrants from all countries. The 

Prime Minister had recently informed the General 

Assembly of efforts to right historical wrongs towards 

indigenous peoples who, like African Canadians, were 

over-represented in the correctional system and under-

represented in public leadership positions. A 

parliamentary committee was currently holding public 

hearings on systemic racism and religious 

discrimination in the country. 



 
A/C.3/72/SR.38 

 

9/10 17-19210 

 

63. Corrective structural measures included legal 

frameworks to address racial discrimination and 

institutional reviews, but racism must also be uprooted 

from hearts and minds. Leaders could set a respectful 

tone and States could support stakeholders promoting 

inclusion. Canada embraced a positive ideal of an 

inclusive society, where differences were respected and 

celebrated. Commitment to inclusion informed its 

immigration and refugee systems, human rights and 

multiculturalism policies, and path towards National 

Reconciliation.  

64. Ms. Mkhwanazi (South Africa) said that the right 

to self-determination was inalienable and universal, and 

an essential prerequisite for the enjoyment of all human 

rights and fundamental freedoms. The Government 

attached great importance to decolonization and deemed 

foreign and military occupation, aggression and 

domination a serious violation of human rights.  

65. Her country was concerned that little progress had 

been made on violations of the right to 

self-determination of the Sahrawi people despite 

numerous General Assembly resolutions expressing 

grave concern. South Africa remained steadfast in 

addressing the persistent denial of self-determination to 

the Sahrawi. The right of Palestinians to self-

determination and statehood had also resonated in the 

reports presented. The ongoing illegal occupation of 

Palestinian territories resembled the brutal oppression 

under apartheid and was a flagrant violation of the 

universal right to self-determination.  

66. Her delegation appreciated the extensive 

consideration of both situations in the Report of the 

Secretary-General, and concurred with the need for 

Human Rights Council and treaty-monitoring body 

mechanisms to address the right to self-determination 

under treaty law. South Africa welcomed the 

reaffirmation of justiciability through the work of the 

Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.  

67. Mr. Rai (Papua New Guinea) said that the 

Secretary-General’s report on the right to self-

determination was another reminder of the indignity of 

colonialism and the unfinished business of 

decolonization. As the Third International Decade for 

the Eradication of Colonialism approached its end in 

2020, it was incumbent on the United Nations to 

safeguard the inherent dignity and fundamental, equal 

and inalienable rights of peoples in Non-Self-Governing 

Territories, seventeen of which remained in the shackles 

of colonialism despite the 1960 adoption of the 

Declaration on the Granting of Independence to 

Colonial Countries. 

68. While efforts to promote social progress and better 

standards of living for the peoples of Non-Self-

Governing Territories were to be applauded, freedom, 

justice and peace were the cornerstones that would make 

a real difference. His delegation welcomed the 2018 

self-determination referendum for New Caledonia and 

the joint efforts of the people of the Territory, the 

administering Power and the United Nations in the 

process provided for under the Nouméa Accord. 

69. Stressing the importance of implementing the key 

conclusions and recommendations made by the United 

Nations visiting mission to New Caledonia in 2014, 

particularly a fair and transparent election, he urged the 

administering Power to permit a second visit before the 

self-determination referendum to ensure that the result 

was respected by all. 

70. Mr. Onanga Ndjila (Gabon) said that Gabon had 

translated into action the updated recommendations of 

the outcome document of the 2001 Durban Conference 

permitting Member States to impose sanctions against 

advocacy for national, racial or religious discrimination, 

which was also prohibited by the Gabonese 

Constitution. The culture of dialogue, peace and 

acceptance of others at the heart of the Government’s 

policies also helped to stem racism, xenophobia and 

intolerance, which should be combated using 

specialized regional and national institutions.  

71. Studies conducted by the National Centre for 

Scientific and Technological Research examined the 

prevention and combating of all forms of racism and 

xenophobia. Gabon was a host country to many migrants 

and asylum seekers from Africa and beyond, and was a 

party to the 1951 Geneva Convention relating to the 

Status of Refugees.  

72. In 2016, the Government had created the Ministry 

of Equal Opportunity and Gabonese Abroad tasked with 

proposing legislation and regulations to strengthen 

national anti-discrimination measures, and in 2017 had 

instituted the Observatory of Inequalities to combat 

discrimination and inequality. 

73. Archbishop Auza (Observer for the Holy See) 

said that racism, xenophobia and related intolerance 

were contrary to the inalienable rights and dignity of 

every person, and found expression in anti-Semitism, 

anti-Muslim sentiment, persecution of Christians, 

religiously or ethnically-motivated harassment or 

violence, human rights and democratic challenges from 

extremism, terroristic incitement to hatred, and 

scapegoating of migrants, asylum seekers and refugees.  

74. The adoption of the Convention on the Elimination 

of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, and the Durban 



A/C.3/72/SR.38 
 

 

17-19210 10/10 

 

Declaration and Programme of Action had demonstrated 

the international community’s determination to act 

against all forms of racial discrimination. The Holy See 

had signed the Convention in 1966 and ratified it in 

1969, and believed that racism was an offence to human 

dignity, a threat to peaceful, just and inclusive societies, 

and an obstacle to sustainable development worldwide.  

75. The ongoing processes for the Comprehensive 

Refugee Response Framework and global compact for 

safe, orderly and regular migration were an 

unprecedented opportunity to oppose intolerance, racial 

discrimination and xenophobia against migrants, 

refugees and their families and protect their 

fundamental human rights. Pope Francis reminded the 

world to view migrants and refugees not as a problem to 

be solved but brothers and sisters to be welcomed, 

respected and loved. Human rights education played a 

key role in fostering social cohesion, promoting respect 

for human dignity and developing a culture of human 

rights. 

76. Mr. Joshi (India), speaking in exercise of the right 

of reply, said that the role of Pakistan as an epicentre 

and a safe haven for terrorists needed no explanation. 

Not only the people of India, but also the region and 

beyond, faced daily struggles owing to the brutalities 

inflicted by terrorists and ideologies emanating from 

Pakistan. However much Pakistan might covet the 

territories of others, the state of Jammu and Kashmir 

was, and would remain, an integral part of India.  

77. Mr. Zulqarnain (Pakistan), speaking in exercise 

of the right of reply, said that it was unfortunate that 

India had once again chosen to mislead the international 

community by presenting a distorted version of reality. 

A lie remained a lie no matter how many times it was 

repeated. India had been forcefully occupying Jammu 

and Kashmir for over 70 years and had turned the region 

into the most militarized part of the world. Yet, its 

illegitimate control was rejected by the people of 

Kashmir, who protested the occupation daily, braving 

the tyranny and repression of Indian security forces and 

demanding their inalienable right to self-determination. 

That right had been promised to them in several United 

Nations resolutions, which were agreed upon by the 

Governments of India and Pakistan and supported by the 

international community. The people of Indian-occupied 

Jammu and Kashmir continued to look to the 

international community to deliver on its pledges to hold 

a free, fair and impartial plebiscite under United Nations 

auspices to enable them to decide their future. India 

could not wish away the issue of Kashmir by running 

away irresponsibly from the negotiating table. Its 

aggressive and hegemonic designs were not sustainable;  

regional peace and stability and the future of millions of 

people in South Asia were linked to the peaceful 

resolution of Kashmir, over which nuclear-armed India 

and Pakistan had fought four wars. The onus was on 

India, which should respect the Security Council 

resolutions and honour the promises it had made to 

generations of Kashmiri people. 

The meeting rose at 5.45 p.m. 


